Audit Services Master Contract (ASC) 2015
AGENCY SCOPE OF WORK (SOW) TEMPLATE and INSTRUCTIONS
Complete this SOW outline and return it to the DBM Contract Manager along with your MBE and VSBE Project Review (PR) documents.  The DBM Contract Manager will use this information in completing your TORFP.  For any questions, please contact the DBM Contract Manager.
I. Instructions and Information

1. Your Agency is:  _______________________________________________
2. For purposes of completing the TORFP, your contact person is:  _____________________________
3. There is a Pre-TOP (pre-proposal) conference approximately 2 weeks after the release of the TORFP to the Master Contractors.  The DBM Contract Manager will need to know the location and Room Number to include in the release of the TORFP.  In addition, you will provide directions to the Pre-TOP location.  Shortly before release, you will confirm and provide this information to the DBM Contract Manager so it is included in the TORFP.
Regarding the Pre-TOP conference date and time:  For traffic and other conditions, it is usually best held 10:00 AM to Noon, but this is flexible.
Also provide a contact person (for direction questions only) for the Pre-TOP Conference that will be included into the SOW.
Fill in:
Date and Time


Location and Room Number


Contact Person for location/room


Directions

4. Complete the information and/or tasks indicated:

a. Complete a MBE Project Review (PR) document and submit it with your draft SOW.  This form is on the Department of Budget & Management website under Statewide Master Contracts/Audit Services Contract/Agency Task Order Process PART 1.
b. Based upon the MBE PR document, the MBE participation goal is:  _____%

c. Based upon the VSBE PR document, the VSBE participation goal is :  _____%

d. An Agency designated under SFP §14-501(b) may designate a TORFP as an SBR TORFP. If you are one of these agencies, is this TORFP being designated as a Small Business Reserve TORFP?  If the answer is yes, it will only be distributed to the SBR firms on the ASC Master Contract.
Y or N

e. What is the Agency’s Living Wage Tier that will be applicable to this TORFP? This is dependent on the location where the services are performed or on the location benefiting from the work.  See DLLR Website at: http://www.dllr.state.md.us/labor/prev/livingwage.shtml
Tier 1  or Tier 2?
f. For the DBM Contract Manager’s information only, what are the Agency’s approximate budget dollars for this audit services project?   
$ _______________

g. Per the ASC RFP’s definition of Non-Routine Travel (See Section 3.4.4.E.) is Non-Routine Travel expected for this effort?

If Yes, explain why:  ________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________

h. The term of the Task Order Agreement Contract will begin upon a fully executed Task Order Agreement in conjunction with an initial Notice To Proceed issued by the DBM Contract Management Office.  Upon delivery and after State acceptance of the final deliverable, the term of the Task Order Agreement will end ________________________.
What is the end-date that you feel that the audit services work applicable to this TORFP must be completed (a drop dead date) by?  ___________________________________
i. Who is the Task Order Manager from your Agency that is assigned to this TORFP (name and contact information)?

j. Who is the Procurement Officer from your Agency that is assigned to this TORFP (The TOM and Procurement Officer may be the same person)?
k. For the information listed below, what hierarchical order is important to your Agency for evaluation of the Master Contractors Technical TOPs? Number the first two items 1 & 2 in the order you would like to see them presented in the TORFP.  Economic Benefits is last.

____
Offeror’s Experience and Capabilities 

____
Offeror’s Overall Understanding and Response to the TORFP Work Requirements & Work Plan
__3_
Economic Benefits
l. Complete the Scope of Work in Section II below with the headings/labels as indicated.  Use complete sentences except for where there is a list.  Do not use bullets.  Instead, either number or use letters within each section. This way the Master Contractors can refer to a specific section which helps both your team and the Master Contractors as they propose. The TORFP Section 6.0 indicates general requirements; therefore, you do not need to expound on anything already shown in Section 6.0.  Simply document specific requirements that you know you need for your audit.

An example is:  The Master Contractors when proposing must follow an order when describing their Detailed Work Plan.  Example:  Phases I through V.  This is for the Agency’s ease in review.  They also understand that any report requirement that you note in your SOW must follow the prescribed format and timeline of Draft Report, Final Report, Summary Report, and any Presentations which also allows for your input.  Please make yourself familiar with the Section 6.0 General TOP Requirements so that you do not repeat any unnecessary information.

As noted in the Master Contract RFP and in the TORFP, the Master Contractors are already required to give certain Status Reports such as MBE reports, NTE reports, etc. Your TOM will have flexibility in prescribing due dates and times, and certain formats.  

II. Scope of Work.  Fill out information and/or data as indicated:
1.0 Purpose

[Explain to the Master Contractors the purpose of the Agency’s financial audit request.]
2.0 Background

[Like a problem statement, explain to the Master Contractors some background information that helps them understand why the financial audit was necessary. You do not need to share any information at this point that you feel is confidential, but it is important for the Master Contractors to grasp the issue so that they can propose a suitable Work Plan. 

Also, indicate any special format, or system that is currently being used that would influence how they propose. Example:  Are the records on a mainframe?  Are they in an MS Excel format?  Are the records accessible via the web with special logon permissions?   
If records or documents that need to be audited are only available at certain times, or, are only available at a certain location by appointment only, these are the types of things it will be important to let the Master Contractors know.
What kind of records need to be audited?  Example:  Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable, 3rd party vendor receipts, 3rd party reimbursement to the State, etc.?

If one or more 3rd parties are stakeholders (whether State or vendor) in the audit, then please make sure that you include this information.
This is where you will also indicate any data information that will be helpful for them to understand the scope and capacity of their resources that will be needed.  Example:  The financial records to be audited are located at one site.  Or, the financial records to be audited are at 20 different locations and they are (you would list the sites). Or, there are 20,000 records available to be audited.  You can see how these variances would affect how the Master Contractor proposes their resources.] 
3.0 The Agency’s goal for this financial audit service is:  [State the goal.]
4.0 The Master Contractor will complete the requirements as indicated to meet the Agency’s goal through the following objectives (List any objectives):

[From the previous contract, here is an example of a TORFP’s objectives for an Agency:  
A)  Audit, verify, and report if the 9-1-1 surcharge fees collected by certain wire line/wireless communications vendor, providing service in Maryland, were properly remitted to the State of Maryland; and,

B)  To provide recommendations on improvements to reporting requirements to better enable the Agency to verify whether carriers are properly remitting 9-1-1 surcharge fees.]
5.0 In addition to the General Requirements documented in Section 6.0 of the TORFP, the Master Contractor must complete: 
[Without repeating the TORFP Section 6.0 information, here you will list all requirements that you need the Master Contractors to complete.  Make sure that you use numbers or letters to list each of your specific requirements.]:
6.0 [What is the end-date that you feel that the audit services work applicable to this TORFP must be completed by (drop dead date) which includes all: reports and presentations?  Fill in the blank below:]
The term of the Task Order Agreement Contract will begin upon a fully executed Task Order Agreement in conjunction with an initial Notice-To- Proceed issued by the DBM Contract Management Office.  Upon delivery and after State acceptance of the final deliverable, the term of the Task Order Agreement will end ______________.

7.0 At the State’s facility, the following will be provided: 
[Example:  A desk, a filing cabinet, and a telephone. Please note for security reasons, unless the Master Contractor completes security procedures and has prior approval to do so, the Master Contractor will be unable to connect their computer equipment to the State Agency’s LAN or WAN.]
8.0 Travel:  Non-Routine Travel is / is not applicable to this TORFP.  For Non-Routine Travel, explain why Non-Routine Travel may be necessary.  Non-Routine Travel will have prior approval from the TOM before it is utilized by the Master Contractor, even if it is noted in the TORFP by the State and proposed to by the Master Contractors. Once it is used, backup documentation for approval, etc., has to be provided by the Master Contractor when invoiced.
9.0 Certificate of Confidentiality: All proposed staff of the Master Contractor’s staff to include subcontractors  is /  is not required to complete this form.  
(See the DBM Website under Statewide Master Contracts/Audit Services Contract/OPEN TASK ORDERS/(in the right margin) TO Proposal Forms for a copy of this form.)
10.0 Non-Disclosure Agreement:  All proposed staff of the Master Contractor’s staff to include subcontractors  is /  is not required to complete this form.  
11.0 HIPAA Business Associate Agreement:  All proposed staff of the Master Contractor’s staff to include subcontractors  is /  is not required to complete this form.  
12.0 Federal Funding Acknowledgement:  The Master Contractor is /  is not required to complete this form.

13.0 DHR Hiring Agreement:  The Master Contractor is /  is not required to complete this form.

14.0 Location of the Performance of Services Disclosure:  The Master Contractor is /  is not required to complete this form.

(See the DBM Website under Statewide Master Contracts/Audit Services Contract/OPEN TASK ORDERS/ (in the left margin) TO Proposal Forms for a copies of these forms.)
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